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Seibel, J.

Before the Court are the Motions to DismigDefendants City oWhite Plains (the
“City”), Police Officers Maurie Love, Steven Demchuk, and Marek Markowski, Sergeants
Stephen Fottrell and Keith Martin, and Liendet James Spencer (collectively, the “City
Defendants”), (Doc. 45), Defendant White RaHousing Authority (“WPHA”), (Doc. 58),
Defendant Police Officer Anthony Carelli, (Doc.)6&nd Defendant Police Officer Steven Hart,
(Doc. 62). For the reasons set forth beltve, City Defendantd¥otion is GRANTED IN
PART and DENIED IN PARTWPHA'’s Motion is GRANTED, Ceelli’'s Motion is GRANTED
IN PART and DENIED IN PARTand Hart’'s Motion is GRANTED.

BACKGROUND

For the purposes of the instant Motions to Dgsnl accept as trube facts, but not the
conclusions, as set forth inlAmended Complaint (“Complaint” or “AC”), (Doc. 36), and

accompanying audio and video recordings of the incident in quéstion.

| consider several audio and video recordings of the intids they are integral to the Complaint and were relied
on heavily in drafting it. $eePart 11.B below; Affirmation [of Lalit K. Loomba] in Support of Motion for Partial
Dismissal of Plaintiff's First AmendeComplaint (“Loomba Aff.”), (Doc. 46), Ex. E (CD-ROM containing audio
and video files).) At the September 13, 2012 conference, | directed the parties to prejpaireapyeatanscripts of

the recordings solely for the convenience of the Court in deciding the instant Motaesl. Ex. C (Defendants’
transcription of Life Aid audio recordingdll. Ex. D (Defendants’ transcription of Taser video recordings);
Declaration of Randolph M. McLaughlin Support of Plaintiff's Oppositioto Defendants’ Motions to Dismiss the
Amended Complaint (“McLaughlin Decl.”), (Doc. 70), Ex(“Life Aid Transcript”) (Plaintiff's transcription of

Life Aid audio recordings)id. Ex. B (“Taser Transcript”) (Plaintiff's transcription of Taser video recordings).) The
recordings themselves are the contngjlevidence, not the transcripts, and all parties may later vary from these
preliminary transcripts. The vast majority of the transcription is undisputed, and as todd@Eptitens | have given



On the morning of November 19, 2011, Kenn€tlamberlain, Sr. (“Chamberlain”) was
in his apartment at 135 South Lexington Ave., part of the Winbrook Houses development, in
White Plains, New York. (AC 1 10.) Chamlazen, a 68-year-old man with serious health
problems, had a “Life Aid” medical alert deei that was monitored around the clockl. {[{ 10-
11.) At approximately 5:00 a.m., Chamberlaialsrt device was accidentally triggered, sending
a notification to the Life Aid monitoring cemtand activating a two-wacommunication device
in his apartment that immediately beganarding communications between the monitoring
center and the apartmentd.({ 10, 12.) Chamberlain canlieard in the background stating,
“You can't hide from me. What I’'m gonna @ogive you a good ass wuppin . . . Give you a
good . .. Well, I'll give you a goodss wuppin.” (Life Aid Trans@pt 1.) When Chamberlain
did not respond to the Life Aid operator ovee tommunication device, fa Aid contacted the
White Plains Department of Public Safety (“WPDPS”) to report theasweared medical alert,
and an ambulance was dispatched along ixéfendant Love. (AC {1 13-15.) Upon running a
computer check on Chamberlain and his home addtke WPDPS dispatch officer learned that
there had been several “emotionally distarperson calls” involvingChamberlain and his
address, and he dispatched Defendants Markowski and Matrtin to join Love at the scene, advising
the responding officers of the possibility of encountering an emotionally disturbed person
(“EDP”). (1d. 1 16.)

Chamberlain refused entry to the respogdifficers and paramedics, telling them

through his door that he had not called for therd was not in need of assistandd. {1 17, 27,

Plaintiff the benefit of the doubt. No disputed portiaffect the outcome of the irstt Motions. For simplicity, |
will cite to Plaintiff's transcript instead @f time stamp on the recordings themselves.



31.) Nevertheless, thdfizers banged on the doddemanding that Chamberlain admit them
because they had to visually confirm that he was not in need of assistan§él. 26, 28, 30.)

The Life Aid operator established contact withamberlain, and repeatedly advised him to open
the door for the police so thatetncould confirm he was all right. (Life Aid Transcript 4-5.)
Chamberlain steadfastly refused, stating, “I didaadtthe police. | did notall the police . . . |

will not open my door . . . . No, | will not openy door. | will not open my door. | will not

open my door. This is an alert.. This is an alert . . . This & alert, this is an alert from
Washington, D.C. An all points bulletin all aredsam being overrun by the White Plains Police
Department. They’re pounding on my door and | did not call for therd.} (

After Chamberlain’s continued refusaldpen the door, Martin contacted Defendant
Spencer, the ranking officer at pa@ibeadquarters, and requesteat thctical officers respond to
the scene. (AC 11 17, 22.) Spencer dispatEregdndants Carelli, Demchuk, Fottrell, and Hart,
directing them to take tacal gear with them. Id. 1 17, 19.) Carelli and iHawvere part of the
Neighborhood Conditions Unit, a tactical unit of White Plains Police Department assigned to
patrol the area including the Winbrook Housdsl. {{ 23-24.) WPHA, the municipal agency
responsible for the Winbrook Houses, had previously provided the Neighborhood Conditions
Unit with a master key to that complex, affrgl the police the ability to access apartments
when necessary without retiag to forced entry. I€l. 11 6, 25.) In addition to this master key,
the officers outside Chamberlain’s apartment were equipped with an axe, a Halligan tool
(similar to a crowbar), pepper sgra riot shield, Tasers, a bd#smg shotgun, and their standard

sidearms. I¢l. T 21.)

2 The Complaint describes the banging as continuous for over an hour. (AC { 39.) Thid téfeording reveals
spurts of banging, not continuous banging. Further, some of it seems to be a effuitsofo open the door or a
window with a tool (as opposed to the officers banging in order to get Chamberlpgntthe door himself).



The encounter between Chamberlain and thiegpoontinued to be recorded by the Life
Aid communication device in Chamberlain’s aparttnemen as the Life Aid operator repeatedly
urged him to open the door so the police couldisaeno one was in need of medical attention.
(Id. 71 29-31.) Chamberlain repeatedly statetthégpolice and the Life Aid operator that he had
not activated his alert device anatlne was fine and wanted theipelto leave, and so the Life
Aid operator called WPDPS again in ateaipt to cancel the medical alertd.(Y 31, 33.) The
police refused to abide by Li#id’s request to cancel theltand informed the Life Aid
operator that they intended to ertfeg apartment using the master kelg. {{ 33-34; Life Aid
Transcript 7.) Either Hart or Martin used #®y to open the door ©Bhamberlain’s apartment,
but Chamberlain had engaged his safety chain lock that prevented the officers from opening the
door more than a few inches. (A% 41.§ Martin wedged the Halligan tool through the
partially open door to keep it ajarld(Y 42.)

Life Aid was able to make contact wi@hamberlain’s sister Carol Matthew, his
emergency contact, who informed the ier that her daugér Tonyia Greenbhift,
Chamberlain’s niece, lived in the same buildinigl. { 35.) While on the phone with the Life
Aid operator, Matthew called Greenhill, who went to Chamberlain’s door. (Life Aid Transcript
11-12.) The officers would not allow Greenhdlspeak to Chamberlain, (AC 1 36-37), but
Greenhill told her mother and the Life Aid operdtwat “Uncle Kenny is going crazy in there . . .
he’s talking like real crazy ouwif his head,” (Life Aid Transcpt 11). Greenhill handed her cell
phone to Officer Carelli, and Matthew informbkiin that Chamberlain “does have a mental

problem,” to which Carelli responded, “Ok, yeahgtth what we kinda wanna check out we just

% The Amended Complaint refers to “a few inches.” (A€1) The Taser video (made later in the episode) shows
the door about two inches from the door jamb.

* Chamberlain’s niece is referred to as “Tonyia Greenhill” in the Ame@deablaint and “Tany&ichardson” in
the Life Aid and Taser Transcriptswill refer to heras Ms. Greenhill.



wanna make sure he’s ok.1d() Later, the Life Aid operator speaks to Matthew again, who
states that “he’s on medication..psychiatric medication.”ld. at 37-38.)

As the confrontation continued for more tremhour, the Life Ad recordings capture
how Chamberlain became increasingly agitated, having multiple delusions or hallucinations.
(AC 11 38, 45.) At one point Chamberlain stht*Go the fuck on home, go home . ... Go
home to your wives, go honte your wives and your childn . . . . You kidnapped my
grandchildren, you kidnapped my wife, you, you, yopechmy daughter.” (Life Aid Transcript
15.) The officers are allegedhave continued to speak loudind threateningly to Chamberlain
through the door, mocking him, disrespecting hamg using at least one racial slur. (AC 1 39-
40.F The recordings indicate that Chamberlairdmaeveral threats the officers outside his
door. Seelife Aid Transcript 15 (“Cimon in, shoot me if you want to, shoot me but I'm gonna
get one of you motherfuckers. I'noigna get one of you motherfuckersid); at 16 (“The first
one coming through that door I'm gonna kill.igf; at 17 (“[Y]ou see I'm standing here with the
coup de gras.”)d. at 22 (“Ok. Somebody’s gonna die toniglit may be me, but somebody else
is gonna die.”)id. at 35 (“That shield you gatin't gonna stop nothing.”).)

Martin kicked the door several times withauicceeding at breaking it open. (AC 1 42.)
During this time, Chamberlain wacontinuing to hallucinate arlreaten the officers, stating,
“They are trying to break in to murder me . .auvcan talk that shit if you wanna. | know what
the deal is. I've talked to the President and \Reesident Biden . . . . 8@t Service is on their
way . ... Check with Judge Leak. Judge Lkadws what's going on . . . You hear that Mr.
President and Mr. Attorney Genkra never called theolice department.” (Life Aid Transcript

21-23;see alsad. at 25-26 (“Ay, ay. Blackfoot. Blackbt, USMC, Blackfoot, Semper Fi, do or

® The Life Aid recordings reveal onse of a racial slur, but aside fronatlinexcusable statement, the Amended
Complaint’s characterization of the pm#i statements as mockinigunting, or threatening is not borne out by the
recordings.



die. Run ‘em hard, run ‘em high . ... I'm a Nomad . But I'm in God’s hands. If | have to be
sacrificed for the good of many, alright ...My marines will be here shortly.”)J. at 31

(“[W]orld wide alert. You have my swortestimony . . . CME Church, Mount Cavalry, CME
Church, you hear that Fran, Ella, Sister Mott,&8i§elia, CME Church, Pastor Wheeler, Pastor
Clayton, the CME, the CME Church gets thatvg You have sworn testimony from me. As
God is my witness that's whekavant that money to go.”).) Chamberlain can also be heard
talking at several points as if someone else was in the apartrSeset, e(gid. at 23 (“Lynette,

you better keep quitesic]. That's right.”);id. at 25 (“Don’t takelLoretta.”).)

At some point, Chamberlain armed himseith a knife, and the officers repeatedly
ordered Chamberlain to drop itSde, e.gid. at 21 (“Drop your weapon.”)d. at 23 (“We need
you to put that knife down.”)d. at 24 (“Put the knife down and let us see you and then we can
go away.”).) Martin can be heard reporting to another officer that fwe’a big butcher’s knife
... We have a Halligan tool holding the door openEvery time we come to the door he sticks
a knife out . . . he’s told me 5,000 times firsin who comes through tdeor he’s gonna Kkill.”

(Id. at 22). Chamberlain confirmed to thiée Aid operator thahe had a weaponSé¢eid. at 24
(“[Life Aid:] ‘Ok, do you have a weapon Mr. Chdrarlain?’ [Chamberlain:] ‘I have a weapon.
| am protecting myself.”).)

Fottrell tried several times to explain to CHazerlain why he needed to let them irfseé
id. at 23 (“Ok, we are here now and we have t&ersure that you are fine. Once we make sure
you are fine then we are outta here arad Will be that. Is that ok with you?")d. at 24 (“Mr.
Chamberlain, we are not here to [] hurt you. &ve here to give you a hand, help you ouid);
at 26 (“Mr. Chamberlain, we’ll take you the hospital and make sure you are okd)at 27

(“Open the door[,] we'll talk to you, we’ll hee the ambulance check you out and then we’ll



leave. That's all it's gonna take. You're m@dgia big deal out of this. C’'mon. It's gonna take
ten minutes with the ambulance to check youamat see if you are ok, and we can leave.”).)
When he was unsuccessful at making progress communicating witrb€taim Fottrell asked
Chamberlain if there was “somebody else besmesvho you want to talk to?” but Chamberlain
did not respond. Id. at 28.)

After more than an hour, Fottrell ordered Catellcut the safety kck using bolt cutters.
(AC 1 42;seeLife Aid Transcript 29 (“They broke tHeck Mr. President. They broke my door
lock, my safety lock.”).) Fottrell drew his $ar, which was mounted with a small video camera
that began recording. (AC f 4&eTaser Transcript.) Derhak and Love then forcibly
removed the door from its hinges, and Demcié&rtin, and Fottrell pushed the door several
times. (AC 11 42-43%eeLife Aid Transcript35 (“They are taking the hinges off the door. They
are getting ready to break through. | hear ydhey'’re breaking through. They’re breaking
through Mr. President . . . I'm outnin@red and | can’t hold them.”Jaser Transcript 8 (same).)
Fottrell can be heard stating, “led some lethal cover here.” g3er Transcript 8.) As the door
fell away, the video recordindiews Chamberlain standing in lEpartment six to eight feet
away from the door, wearing only his underwe@kC 1 49, 54.) The following dialogue was
recorded by the Taser camera:

Demchuk: He’s right here. Hetgght behind the door. Are you
ready?
Unknown: Kenny, Kenny, Kenny.

Demchuk: We don’t wanna hurt you, come on.
Chamberlain: Leave, | did not ¢gbu. | did not call you. Leave.

[Inaudible.]

Fottrell: Shield up, shield up.

Unknown: Gonna get this fucker he comes flying out.
Fottrell: Pull that thing out.

Demchuk: I’'m gonna kick it.

Fottrell: He’s around it.

[TASER DEPLOYED]



Unknown: Alright, drop it.

Fottrell: Put the knife down.
Chamberlain: Shoot me, comeon. ..
Martin: Do it again.

Chamberlain: Shoot me.

[TASER DEPLOYED]

Chamberlain: Shoot me.

Fottrell: It's not in him.
Chamberlain: Shoot me.

Unknown: Comeon, motherfucker.
Chamberlain: Shoot me.

Fottrell: Do you have another cartridge?
Chamberlain: Shoot me.
Carelli: Don’t do it, don’t do it, don’t do it.

(Taser Transcript 8-9.) At this point, the retiags end. The Complaint alleges that the first
time Fottrell discharged his Taser, only onehaf two barbs fired &@m the weapon entered
Chamberlain’s body. (AC 1 52.) As aresult, the Taser caused pain and electrical burns but did
not incapacitate Chamberlain as intenddd. 53.)

When neither Taser deployment incapacda@®amberlain, Martin grabbed the beanbag
shotgun from Markowski and fired several bieag rounds, striking Chawerlain in his chest
and thigh and causing him to fall to the flooid. [ 55-56.) Immediatglafter the beanbag
shots, Carelli fired two rounds from hisrfiigun, hitting Chamberlain in the chedd. [ 57,
60.) One of the bullets passed through Chatlairés lungs, spine, and ribs, fatally wounding

him. (d.)

Plaintiff, Chamberlain’s somow brings this action as administrator of Chamberlain’s
estate, asserting claims pursuant to 42 U.8.1283 (“Section 1983") @ahassociated state law
tort claims against the City of White Plajrtise White Plains Housing Authority, and the

individual officers involved in ta November 19, 2011 incidentSgeAC 11 100, 108, 127, 137.)



LEGAL STANDARDSAND THRESHOLD ISSUES

A. Motion to Dismiss Standard

“To survive a motion to dismiss, a compliamust contain sufficient factual matter,
accepted as true, to ‘state a claim teefeéhat is plausible on its face.’Ashcroft v. Iqbal556
U.S. 662, 678 (2009) (quotirell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007)). “A claim
has facial plausibility when the plaintiff pleadgsfual content that allows the court to draw the
reasonable inference that the defendmitiable for the misconduct allegedld. “While a
complaint attacked by a Rule 12(b)(6) motiordismiss does not need detailed factual
allegations, a plaintiff’'s obligadn to provide the grounds of esitittement to relief requires
more than labels and conclusions, and a formuéaiitation of the elementsf a cause of action
will not do.” Twombly 550 U.S. at 555 (alteration, citatis, and internal quotation marks
omitted). While Federal Rule of Civil Proced8 “marks a notable and generous departure
from the hyper-technical, code-pléagl regime of a prior era, . . . it does not unlock the doors of
discovery for a plaintiff armed withothing more than conclusionsl§bal, 556 U.S. at 678-79.

In considering whether a complaint stadedaim upon which relief can be granted, the
court “begin[s] by identifying pleadings that, basa they are no more than conclusions, are not
entitled to the assumption ofith,” and then determines whet the remaining well-pleaded
factual allegations, accepted asetr“plausibly give rise tan entitlement to relief.'1d. at 679.
Deciding whether a complaint states a plausitdarcfor relief is “a context-specific task that
requires the reviewing court tiraw on its judicial experience and common senik.”

“[W]here the well-pleaded facts do not permit the tooiinfer more than the mere possibility of
misconduct, the complaint has alleged — but itf@sshown’ — ‘that thepleader is entitled to

relief.” Id. (alteration omitted) (quaig Fed. R. Civ. P. 8(a)(2)).

10



B. Materials Outside of the Complaint

When deciding a motion to dismiss, the Court'giew is ordinarily limited to “the facts
as asserted within the four cers of the complaint, the documents attached to the complaint as
exhibits, and any documents incorpedatn the complaint by referenceMcCarthy v. Dun &
Bradstreet Corp 482 F.3d 184, 191 (2d Cir. 2008ke Faulkner v. Begd63 F.3d 130, 134 (2d
Cir. 2006). Thus, “[w]hen matters outside fileadings are presented [in support of or] in
response to a 12(b)(6) motion, atdict court must either exalle the additional material and
decide the motion on the complaint alone or @hthe motion to one for summary judgment
... and afford all parties the opporityrto present supporting materialPried! v. City of N.Y,.
210 F.3d 79, 83 (2d Cir. 2000) (akéion and internal quotation marks omitted). For purposes of
this rule, “the complaint is deemed to include amiften instrument attached to it as an exhibit
or any statements or documentsarporated in it by referenceChambers v. Time Warner,
Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 152 (2d Cir. 2002).

Under certain circumstances, however, it igrapriate for a court to consider material
outside of the pleadings on a motion to dismiSee Weiss v. Inc. Vill. of Sag Harp@62 F.
Supp. 2d 560, 567 (E.D.N.Y. 2011). For example, a court may consider documents upon the
terms and effect of which the complaint relieavily — that is, “integral” documents — without
converting a motion to dismisstina summary judgment motiosee Chamber£82 F.3d at
153, provided it is “clear on the record that ngpdite exists regarding the authenticity or
accuracy of the document[sFaulkner, 463 F.3d at 134. This rule extends to non-documentary
records such as audio recordings, provithedabove-mentioned requirements are rete
Condit v. Dunng317 F. Supp. 2d 344, 357-58 (S.D.N.Y. 20@t)dio recordings of radio show

were properly considered on motion to disnfiesause complaint relied heavily on them)re

11



Ashanti Goldfields Sec. Litigl84 F. Supp. 2d 247, 263 (E.D.N.Y. 2002) (transcript of
conference call considered on motion to dismisereltall was referenced in complaint and both
parties’ arguments relied on statems made during the call).

There are four documents attached ashetehio the Amended Complaint: the White
Plains Police Department (“WPPD”) paficegarding “Mentally/Emotionally Disturbed
Persons,” (AC Ex. A), the corresponding N¥ark Police Department (“NYPD”) policyid.

Ex B), an excerpt from the WPPD policy rediag “Barricade Sitations and Barricade
Situations with Hostages,id. Ex. C), and the corsponding NYPD policy,id. Ex. D).

Plaintiff refers to these policies in the Comptaas evidence of the City’s failure to adopt
adequate policies regardinglige interaction with EDPs.Sged. 11 75-93.) | may consider
these documents because they aech#d to the Amended ComplairBeeChambers282 F.3d

at 152. | may also consider Plaintiff's NotioeClaim, submitted téhe City and WPHA as
required by state law, in connext with Defendants’ argumenttisat the Notice of Claim is
deficient. See, e.gLieber v. Vill. of Spring Valleyd0 F. Supp. 2d 525, 530-31 (S.D.N.Y. 1999)
(examining notice of claim on motion to dismiss).

Additionally, with their Motions and oppositidhereto, the parties have submitted the
audio recordings of the incident captured by IAfd and the audio-viderecordings captured by
the camera mounted on Sergegattrell’s Taser. $eeLoomba Aff. Ex. E(CD-ROM containing
recording files); Life Aid Tanscript; Taser Transcripgee alsdNote 1 above.) Plaintiff’s
Complaint repeatedly refers to the recordingthefincident captured by Life Aid and the Taser-
mounted camera.SeeAC | 12 (“Life Aid . . . immediatelypegan recording communications to
and from his apartment.”)d. § 29 (“The Life Aid operrs, through the two-way

communication device in the apartment, cdudadr the loud banging tfie police officers.”)id.

12



1 38 (“The Life Aid recordings document Mr. &hberlain, Sr.’s growing fear and agitation as
the onslaught continued anccakted for over one hour.g. § 45 (“The Life Aid recordings
clearly indicate that as thedident progressed and escalateddisidvir. Chamberlain Sr.’s fear
and agitation.”)id. 49 (“As the door fell open, a caraarn a Taser being held by Defendant
Fottrell recorded Mr. ChambertgiSr. standing approximately six to eight feet away from the
doorway wearing only a pair of boxer shortsid);{ 54 (“Video from the Taser recorded its
tortious and torturous effeatsm Mr. Chamberlain, Sr.”).)

Neither party contests the appropriatenesh®Court’s consideratn of the recordings
without converting the instant Motions to onessammary judgment. To the contrary, at the
pre-motion conference before this Court on 8eqiter 13, 2012, Plaintiff explicitly indicated his
intent to rely on the recordings in drafting the Amended Complaint, and both parties submitted
transcripts of the recordings with their motion pape8eeoomba Aff. Exs. C, D; McLaughlin
Decl. Exs. A, B.) ltis clear that the recargs form a significant basis for much of the factual
information contained in the Complaint, and | tfere find that the recordings are an integral
component of the allegations as to howhbar-long incident unfolded. Accordingly, I will
consider the Life Aid audio reodings and the Taser video recimgks in resolving the instant
Motions to Dismiss.

C. Qualified |mmunity

Quialified immunity shields a government ofitirom liability for civil damages unless
“(1) [] the official violated a statutory or constitutional right, and (2) [] the right was clearly
established at the time tife challenged conduct.Coollick v. Hughes699 F.3d 211, 219 (2d
Cir. 2012) (internal quotation marks omitted). “Ewenere the plaintiff's federal rights . . . are

clearly established, the quadifi immunity defense protecasgovernment actor if it was

13



objectively reasonable for him to believe that actions were lawful at the time of the
challenged act."Lennon v. Miller 66 F.3d 416, 420 (2d Cir. 1995) (internal quotation marks
omitted);see Anderson v. Creightof83 U.S. 635, 638-40 (1987). “The objective
reasonableness test is met — and the defendantiiked to immunity — ibfficers of reasonable
competence could disagree on the legalftthe defendant’s actions.Thomas v. Roag¢ii65

F.3d 137, 143 (2d Cir. 1999) (internal quotation rsasknitted). “The objective element of this
test requires the court to lobleyond the generalized constitutibpeotection, such as the right

to be free of unreasonable searches and sejanddo determine whether the law is clearly
established in a more particularized sense,” given the specific factual situation with which the
officer is confronted.Kerman v. City of N.Y261 F.3d 229, 236 (2d Cir. 2001).

Qualified immunity entitles public officials t@an immunity from sit rather than a mere
defense to liability . . . . [l]t is effectively lost if a case is erroneously permitted to go to trial.”
Mitchell v. Forsyth472 U.S. 511, 526 (1985) (emphasis omitted). The Supreme Court
“repeatedly [has] stressed the importance of résglvnmunity questionat the earliest possible
stage in litigation.”Pearson v. Callaharg55 U.S. 223, 232 (2009) (internal quotation marks
omitted). Indeed, the “driving force” behindetiyualified immunity doctrine is the need “to
ensure that insubstantial claims against governofioials will be resolved prior to discovery.”

Id. at 231 (internal quotation marks and alteration omitted).

14



DISCUSSION

A. Claim I: Unlawful Entry®

To state a claim under Section 1983, a complaust allege that the defendant (1)
deprived the plaintiff of rights secured by fenstitution and laws of the United States, (2)
while acting under color of state law. 423.C. § 1983. The Fourth Amendment protects
individuals and their homes againsireasonable searches and seizsesd).S. Const. amdt.

IV, and “[t]o be reasonable undire Fourth Amendment, a seamha home must either be
conducted pursuant to a wartar meet an exception tbe warrant requirement&nthony v.
City of N.Y, 339 F.3d 129, 135 (2d Cir. 2003).

A warrantless entry into an individual's hofiseaeasonable if exigent circumstances exist
that require police officers ionmediately enter the propertgee id. Welsh v. Wisconsj#66
U.S. 740, 749-50 (1984). Under tbmmergency aid doctrine, an egigcy exists if the officers
reasonably believe it is necessary to “render gerary assistance to anjured occupant or to
protect an occupant from imminent injuryBrigham City, Utah v. Stuarb47 U.S. 398, 403
(2006);seeMangino v. Inc. Vill. of Patchogu&39 F. Supp. 2d 205, 236 (E.D.N.Y. 2010). This
test is purely objective and is based on tlusltty of the circumstnces confronting law
enforcement agents in the panlar case”; the core inquiry fevhether the facts, as they
appeared at the moment of gntvould lead a reasonable, expeced officer, to believe that
there was an urgent need to render aid or take actidnited States v. Simmqré61 F.3d 151,

157 (2d Cir. 2011) (internal gquettton marks omitted).

® The first cause of action in the Amended Complaistilstitled “For Use of Excessive Force,” (AC at 16), but
includes allegations that Defgants’ actions constitutedriteasonable and unnecessasg of excessive force and
unlawful entry,” {d. ¥ 100). Out of an abundance of cautionill tneat the claim as one for both excessive force
and unlawful entry, despite the limitation in the subtitle.

15



The Amended Complaint fails to state amldor unlawful entry on which relief can be
granted. First, the facts as alleged by Plgintake clear that the officers’ entrance into the
apartment was authorized pursuant to the geray aid doctrine. WPDPS received a call from
Life Aid, which reported thatife Aid operators had been able to raise a response from
Chamberlain after receiving an alert from hie Aid device. (AC {1 12-13.) Upon running a
“computer history check,” WPDPS determined tthere had been several previous EDP calls
involving Chamberlain. I¢. § 16.) Chamberlaineadfastly refused entry to medical and police
personnel, even to allow them to visually aonfthat no one at the location was in need of
medical assistance. Additionally, officers on sisene could hear Chamberlain through the door
occasionally speaking as if to another personggssting either the aclupresence of another
person who could be in danger or that Chanaliesvas hallucinating, which could pose a danger
to himself.

Under these circumstances, a reasonakjeereenced officer would be justified in
concluding that entry into the apartment wiasessary. Based on thistory of EDP calls
involving Chamberlain, the unanswered medatalt, and the way he was behaving when
emergency personnel responded to his apartrirengfficers could haveeasonably concluded
that Chamberlain was in needro&dical attention or posed a tateo himself or other possible
occupants of the apartment. The officers weséfied in demandin¢gp undertake a visual
inspection of the premises to conf that no one was in distresSeeAnthony 339 F.3d at 135-
37 (warrantless entry justified when 911 call ovaged from address of woman with Down
Syndrome reporting man with guf)ierney v. Davidsgnl33 F.3d 189, 197 (2d Cir. 1998)
(reasonable for officer to conclude someuwras injured or in danger when responding to

“priority” domestic violencecall where officer found brokemindow and neighbors indicated
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shouting ceased just before officer’s arrivaf);Simmons661 F.3d at 158-59 (speculation that
third person might be present as justifioatfor warrantless search was insufficient when
officers “[n]either saw [n]or heard anything thmight lead them to believe that anyone other
than [the defendant] was inside”). Indeed, atogpvithout confirmation the assurances of a
clearly unstable individual that an emergendy ltad been accidentallylaced and that no one
inside the apartment needed emergenoyices would have been irresponsible.

Even if their warrantless entry into Chiaenlain’s apartment was not justified, the
responding officers are entitled to qualified ionmity for their actions. As discussed above,
based on the history of EDP calls to Chambeitaaddress, the unanswed medical alert, and
the way Chamberlain was talkingelading as if other individualwere inside the apartment, it
would not be unreasonable for an objective offtcetonclude that there was a risk that an
occupant of the apartment needed police or medgsstance that justified the officers’ entry
into the apartmentSee Kerman261 F.3d at 239 (“A forced entry into the apartment of an
emotionally disturbed man possihwielding a [weapon] cannot bealewith by half measures.
Based on the information in the call, the policé ot act unreasonably in choosing to enter and
immobilize [the man] as quickly and safely asgible.”). Plaintiff hasot directed the Court’s
attention to any clearly estabilisd law stating otherwise, anctourt is aware of none. The

officers involved are therefore entitled to qualfimmunity from suit over the warrantless entry

" Plaintiff argues, (Plaintif's Omnibus Memorandum ofaLim Opposition to Defendant#otion to Dismiss (“P’s
Mem.”), (Doc. 69), 8), and the Amended Complaint alleges, (AC 1 71), that the officers kndve thié tAid
system had been triggered accidentally. This assertioméusory and | therefore needt accept it. The facts as
alleged (including the recordings) show that Chamberlain denied activating the Life Aid device, tiad Lifed

to cancel the call after Chamberlain’s denials, and thabfficer, in response to Chaerlain’s denial, seemingly
accepted that the activation had been accidental. But ndheseffacts plausibly showsattthe officers knew for a
fact that the device was triggered accidentally.
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into Chamberlain’s apartmehtAccordingly, the unlawful entrglaim must be dismissed as to
all individual Defendant3.

B. Claim |: Excessive Force

“[A]ll claims that law enforcement officers haused excessive foreedeadly or not — in
the course of an arrest, investigatory stop, beioseizure of a free citizen should be analyzed
under the Fourth Amendment and‘resasonableness’ standard3raham v. Connqr490 U.S.
386, 395 (1989) (emphasis omitted). A determination of reasonableness under the Fourth
Amendment “requires a carefullaacing of the nature and glity of the intrusion on the
individual’'s Fourth Amendment interests agait& countervailing govemental interests at
stake.” Kerman 261 F.3d at 239 (internal quotation marks omitted). Evaluation “of a particular
use of force must be . . . from the perspeabiva reasonable officer on the scene, rather than
with the 20/20 vision of hindsight.Graham 490 U.S. at 396ee Jones v. Parmle465 F.3d
46, 61 (2d Cir. 2006). “A claim fpexcessive force . . . iaibject to an objective test of

reasonableness under thaatity of the circumstances, witiacequires consideration of the

8| also find that it is objectively reasonable for dificers to have concluded that Chamberlain had impliedly
consented to warrantless entry into the apartment by ovamidgising a Life Aid device. A warrantless entry does
not amount to a constitutional violation if it was voluntarily consented to, whether expressly or impliedly by
conduct. See Flynn v. Jamg513 F. App’x 37, 39 (2d Cir. 2013) (summary ordemijted States v. Gandi276 F.
App’x 10, 12 (2d Cir. 2008) (summary order). The Life Aid device is intended to contact emergenonglerso
when activated; indeed, the entire pse of the device is to summon emergency aid. It was reasonable for the
officers to conclude that by employing such a device, Chamberlain consented to having emergency respenders
the apartment in the event the device aetsrated, and that a subsequent witteehal of that consent — by a clearly
unstable person and in circumstances where a third person might have been present — shouwdaredbe h

° Plaintiff's factual allegations do not indicate any inahent by Lieutenant Spendarthe allegedly unlawful

entry into Chamberlain’s apartment. The only allegationglving Spencer are thae was the highest-ranking
officer on duty at WPDPS headquartarsl that he dispatched several @& thsponding officarupon receiving a
request for backup. (AC 11 17, 19, 22.) This allegaticgupérvisory liability will be adressed under that separate
claim below, but there is clearly no basis for direct liability as to Spencer. Similarly, the Amended Complaint
contains no allegations that Officer Markowski was involved in the decision to enter or actually carried out any part
of the entry into the apartmentSde idf1 41-43 (entry was ordeter effected by Martin, Hart, Fottrell, Carelli,
Demchuk, and Love).) The unlawful entry claim is therefore dismissed as against Spencer and Markihesk
additional ground that they had no personal involvement in the e®égProvost v. City of Newburgl262 F.3d

146, 154 (2d Cir. 2001) (“It is well-settled in this Giitcthat personal involvement of defendants in alleged
constitutional deprivations is a prerequisite to an dweidamages under [Section] 1983.") (internal quotation
marks and alteration omitted).
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specific facts in each case, including . . . whethe suspect posed anmediate threat to the

safety of others and whether iseactively resisting arrest.Sullivan v. Gagnier225 F.3d 161,

165 (2d Cir. 2000). “The calculus of reasonabkimust embody allowance for the fact that

police officers are often forced to make split-second judgments — in circumstances that are tense,
uncertain, and rapidly evolving — about the amairiorce that is necessary in a particular

situation.” Graham 490 U.S. at 396-97. Furthermoggialified immunity protects police

officers from the “sometimes hazy bordetween excessive and acceptable for&alcier v.

Katz, 533 U.S. 194, 206 (2001) (internal quotation marks omitteeyruled in part on other

grounds by Pearsqrb55 U.S. 223.

The direct applications of force that Pldinalleges were excessive were undertaken by
Sergeant Fottrell (Taser), Sergeant Martin (beanbag gun), and Officer Carelli (handgun). All
three applications occurred in the final monsewitthe incident, once the officers had removed
the door to Chamberlain’s apartment.

1. Sergeant Fottrell’s Use of the Taser

Defendants first contend that the recordidgamonstrate that any claim of excessive
force is implausible (and therefore fails to satisfy Tae@mbly/Igbalpleading standard) because
the officers were clearly justified Employing the amount of force use&eg, e.g.Carelli
Mem. 10-12.3° The Life Aid recordings indita that during the hour-long incident,

Chamberlain was armed with a kriif¢hat the officers could sébrough the partially open door

0 «carelli Mem.” refers to Memorandum of Law in Suppof Defendant Carelli’'s Motion to Dismiss. (Doc. 67.)

1 plaintiff contends that a factual dispute exists as tether Chamberlain had a knife at all and that the most the
recordings indicate is that Chamberlain “used a metal ofgjiguevent the officers from removing his door.” (P’s

Mem. 24.) The Complaint, however, repeatedlyresfe the officers’ need to “disarm” Chamberlamg; AC

1 51), the recordings capture both tifficers and the Life Aid operator repeatedly telling Chamberlain to drop the
knife, (e.g, Life Aid Transcript 21, 23-24), and at one point Chamberlain confirms to the Life Aid operator that he is
holding a weaponjd. at 24 (“[Life Aid:] Ok, do you have a wpan Mr. Chamberlain? [Chamberlain:] | have a
weapon. | am protecting myself.”)).
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to the apartment and that Chamberlain repeatedly refused to comply with instructions to drop the
weapon. E.g, Life Aid Transcript 21, 23-24.) Adidonally, over the course of the standoff
Chamberlain made several threats @hdly force against the officersE.§, id. at 15-17, 22,

35.) The recordings also demonstrate tharGlerlain was delusional and extremely agitated,
which Plaintiff admits in the Complain{AC { 38, 45.) The video captured by Sergeant
Fottrell's Taser does not clearly show whethea@herlain was armed or what exactly he was
doing at the time the officers breached his tpant door, although Sergeant Fottrell can be
heard after the first Taser disarge ordering Chamberlain tput the knife down.” (Taser
Transcript 8.) In the video, it ds@ppear as if one tfie two barbs that were fired from the
Taser did not enter Chamberlain’s body, #mTaser thereforeifad to incapacitate

Chamberlain as intended. Fottrell then firegl Weapon a second time, sending another burst of
electricity through the one vé@ that was in contactitkh Chamberlain’s body.Id.)

Accepting the factual allegations irethhmended Complaint (when viewed in
conjunction with the audio and videecordings) as true, | finddhSergeant Fottrell’s first
discharge of the Taser was not excessive agtemuod law. After an hour-long standoff with an
armed, emotionally disturbed indlilual who repeatedly threatea to kill the first officer
through the door, it was reasonable to use a Tasdtempt to incapacitate Chamberlain, and a
“reasonable officer on the s@nwould have so believedsraham 490 U.S. at 396see, e.g.
Greenfield v. TomainéNo. 09-CV-8102, 2011 WL 2714221, at *4 (S.D.N.Y. May 10, 2011)
(officer who deployed Taser agat belligerent man armed wikimife advancing on officers
entitled to qualified immunity)eport and recommendation adopt&®11 WL 2714219
(S.D.N.Y. July 12, 2011). Use of this non-lethakc®in the circumstances is not excessive, and

the Complaint therefore fails to state a cause tidb@a@s to the first discharge of the Taser. At
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the very least, reasonable, experienced officerdatishgree as to whethase of a Taser in this
situation would violate Chambarh’s rights, and Fottrell is érefore entitled to qualified
immunity.

At this stage of litigation, however, Sergeanttfadl is not entitled to qualified immunity
for the second discharge of his Taser. Plaiatiffues that once Fottrell knew that only one of
the barbs had made contact with Chamberiaimas unreasonable to discharge the Taser a
second time because doing so would serve tontause pain without achieving incapacitation.
(P's Mem. 24.) The recordings do not contra8ietintiff's allegations tat Fottrell was aware of
the misfire — which presumably could be seeamor do they clearly depict Chamberlain’s
conduct after the initial dischagg Plaintiff argues that Fo#tl undertook an “unnecessary
infliction of pain by sending peated charges intdr. Chamberlain, Sr., after knowing he had []
fired the weapon” unsuccessfullyld) The Amended Complaint (as opposed to Plaintiff's
brief) is significantly less elar on the point, stating only thaottrell discharged the Taser
negligently, such that both prongs did naoteerChamberlain’s body, resulting in burns and
“repeated[]” shocks. (AC 11 52-53.) Nevertheless, those factsrngladsible that any
discharge after the first constituted an unseaey infliction of pa, and nothing in the
recordings shows otherwis&ottrell would not be entittéto qualified immunity for the
deliberate infliction of pain if he was awaratlthe Taser would not succeed in incapacitating
Chamberlairt? Dismissal of the excessive forcaich as to that second discharge is

inappropriate.

12 Discovery should reveal whether there is a fact issue whether the officerduring the rapidly unfolding
encounter, realized that only one of the prongs had hit Chamberlain and that a second discharge would be as
ineffective, and paifol, as the first.
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2. Sergeant Martin’s Use of the Beanbag Gun

After the Taser failed to incapacitate Chantdia, Sergeant Martin is alleged to have
“fired several beanbag shotsht. Chamberlain, Sr. that strutks thigh and his chest.'1d;
1 56.) Defendants argue that ifttfell is entitled to qualifiedmmunity for his initial use of the
Taser, Martin is also entitled for qualified imnity for resorting to an alternative means of non-
lethal force after the initial attempt to ineagitate Chamberlain failed. (City Ds’ Mem. 9-18.)
| agree. As discussed above, a reasonablecoftiould have concludedat use of non-lethal
force was necessary in the circumstanceseMHuottrell’s initial use of the Taser was
unsuccessful at incapacitating Chamberlain,aealle officers could have determined that it
was appropriate to resort ta@her form of non-lethal force to attempt to subdue him. For
substantially the same reasons as entitle Setrgedinell to qualified immunity for the first
Taser discharge, Sergeant Martin is entitlesimimunity for his use of the beanbag weapon.

3. Officer Carelli's Use of Lethal Force

In contrast, Officer Carelli is not entitled to diiad immunity at this stage of litigation.
The Complaint alleges that “[a]fter the beagbavere deployed, MChamberlain went down
.. .. Immediately after thesinbag shots, Carelli dischadyhis handgun twice and fatally
injured Mr. Chamberlain, Sr.” (AC 1 56-57.) elthots are not captured on either the Life Aid
audio recordings or the Taser video recordbah devices had ceased recording by that time.
Assuming the allegations to beidy; | find that the Complaint st a claim for excessive force
against Officer Carelli. Chambain was already down on the grouasla result of Martin’s use

of the beanbag gunld( § 56.) There is no indication (at least based on the Amended Complaint

13«City Ds’ Mem.” refers to Memorandum of Law in Suppof the City Defendants’ Motion for Partial Dismissal
of the Amended Complaint. (Doc. 47.)
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and the other materials | may consideBtthe posed a threat at that tifieAccording to the
Amended Complaint, no effort was made, o@t@mberlain was down, to contain or restrain
him; rather, Officer Carelli “[[jmmediatg” shot and killed Chamberlain.Id. 11 56-57.) Absent
some reason requiring escalation from non-leth&dttwal force, discharging a firearm at an
already-downed suspect who does not pose a tisraatunreasonabénd excessive use of
force. | am likewise not convied that reasonable, experienodficers could differ as to the
appropriateness of shooting a person whodbahdy collapsed to the ground after the
application of non-lethal force and (as | must assat this stage) norger posed a threat.
Defendant Carelli has not persuaded me that geglihmunity is appropriate for him at this
time. Therefore, the excessive force mlagainst Carelli will not be dismissed.

4. Other Individual Defendants

“It is well settled in thiCircuit that personal involveemt of defendants in alleged
constitutional deprivations is a prerequisite to an awadhmages under [Section] 1983.”
Provost 262 F.3d at 154 (internal quotation maaksl alteration omitted). Accordingly, the
allegations against Lieutenant Spencer @ffiters Hart, Love, Demchuk, and Markowski do
not state a claim for relief under Section 1983cuténant Spencer was never present at the
scene, (AC 1 22), and the Complaint does not atlegfehe issued any orders to the officers who
were present. Similarly, the ajjations against the other officease summarized in Plaintiff’s
brief as follows:

“Hart and Carelli went to Mr. Chamberlain, Sr.’s apartment with a master
key and either Martin anoll Hart used the key topen the door. Hart . ..
called Mr. Chamberlain, Sr. a ‘nigger’ agolice tactic to distract him. . . .

Love assisted in the removal &fir. Chamberlain, Sr.’s door and []
Demchuk was ordered to violentlydach Mr. Chamberlain, Sr.’s door.

14 Obviously, discovery may reveal whether Chamberlain continued to wave the knife or otherwise threaten the
officers after the use of the beanbag gun.
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... Markowski held the beanbag shot gun that was used by Defendant
Martin. . . . Hart, Love, Markowskand Demchuk[] continuously banged
loudly on his door, cursed at him, and continued for well over an hour, to
speak to him loudly, threateningly, dispectfully and mockingly, with at
least one officer ung racial slurs.”
(P's Mem. 21-22 (internal citations omitted).)ome of these allegations amounts to the use of,
or participation in th use of, force — let alone excessive fdrce.

Plaintiff's theory that each officer is liabter his failure to intervene and prevent the
uses of force discussed abowedAC 11 73, 106), is also unavailingf.is true that an officer
who fails to intervene to prevent other officemsnfr causing harm can be held liable “where that
officer observes or has reason to knowthat excessive force is being usednderson v.

Branen 17 F.3d 552, 557 (2d Cir.1994). Liability doeot attach, however, unless the officer
had “a realistic opportunity timtervene to prevent thearm from occurring.”ld. The Taser

video shows that Fottrell’'s second Taser disch&gppened almost immatkly after the first,

and the Amended Complaint itself alleges that Officer Carelli fired his weapon “[ijmmediately”
after Martin used the beargpahotgun. (AC Y 57.) Based on my review of the Amended
Complaint and the recordings, | conclude thairRiff does not plausibly allege that any other
officer had a “realistic opportunity” to premt either of those uses of forc&nderson17 F.3d at

557. Accordingly, the excessive force claim is dismissed as against Defendants Hart, Love,

Demchuk, Markowski, and Spencer foiltige to state a cause of actith.

15 plaintiff claims that theficer who used a racial slur against him is liable under Section 1983. Reprehensible as
such conduct is, “an arresting officer’s use of racial egtdees not constitute a basis for a [Section] 1983 claim.”
Perry v. Cnty. of Westchest@&to. 09-CV-9391, 2011 WL 5978544, at *4 n.5 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 29, 2011) (internal
guotation marks omitted).

16 plaintiff also argues that in the alternative, all individual Defendants can be held liable under “principles of joint
and several liability.” (P's Mem. 20-21.) For essentially the reasons stated in tlize€@ihdants’ papers, (Reply
Memorandum of Law in Further Support of the City Defants’ Motion for Partial Disiesal (“City Ds’ Reply”),

(Doc. 55), 3-4), this argument misses the mark. Joohsareral liability is a method of apportioning damages, not

a method of determining liability in the first instance, areldases on which Plaintiff relies do not hold otherwise.
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In summary, the excessive force claim rermaiiable as to Sergeant Fottrell for the
second discharge of the Taser and asftic& Carelli for discharging his handgun. The
excessive force claim is dismissed in all ofespects and as agaia#l other Defendants.

C. Claim |l: Conspiracy

Plaintiff alleges that thendividual Defendants, all Whitelains police officers, were
engaged in a conspiracy “totere Kenneth Chamberlain, Sr. lois rights secured by the
Fourth, Fifth and Fourteenth Amendment¢AC  104.) “To prove a [Section] 1983
conspiracy, a plaintiff must show: (1) an agreement between two or more state actors or between
a state actor and a private ent{®) to act in concert to inflicin unconstitutional injury; and (3)
an overt act done in furtherangtthat goal causing damage$?angburn v. Culbertsqr200
F.3d 65, 72 (2d Cir. 1999%ge Biswas v. City of N,YNo. 12-CV-3607, 2013 WL 5421678, at
*21 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 30, 2013). “[Clonspiracies arelgir very nature seetive operations, and
may have to be proven by circumstahtiather than direct, evidencePangburn 200 F.3d at
72 (internal quotation marks omitted). Nevelglss, “complaints containing only conclusory,
vague, or general allegations titia¢ defendants have engagea iconspiracy to deprive the
plaintiff of his constitutional ghts are properly dismissed; diffusied expansive allegations are
insufficient, unless amplified by spific instance®f misconduct.” Ciambriello v. Cnty. of
Nassay 292 F.3d 307, 325 (2d Cir. 2002) (internal quotation marks omitted). The complaint
must contain “enough factual matféaken as true) to suggesattan agreement was made.”
Twombly 550 U.S. at 556.

Under the intracorporate conspyadoctrine, “officers, agentnd employees of a single

corporate entity are legally incapable of conspiring togethidaitline v. Gallg 546 F.3d 95, 99

7 plaintiff has chosen to include a separate “supervisdsifitid claim against Sergeant Fottrell, Sergeant Martin,
and Lieutenant Spencer. Therefore, any theoriéahifity for the use of excessive force stemming from those
Defendants’ positions as supervisors Wwél analyzed under that claim below.
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n.3 (2d Cir. 2008) (internal quotation marks omittedhe Second Circuit recognizes this rule in
the context of conspiracy claims under 42 U.S.C. § 18€88d.; Herrmann v. Moore576 F.2d
453, 459 (2d Cir. 1978), but has not f)ad occasion to decide whet the doctrine also applies
to conspiracy claims under Section 1988 Lewis v. Havernacklo. 12-CV-31, 2013 WL
1294606, at *12 (N.D.N.Y. Mar. 28, 201RAlvarez v. City of N.YNo. 11-CV-5464, 2012 WL
6212612, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 12, 2012). Several Dustiourts in the Ccuit have addressed
the question, however, and havédhhat the rationale behindehntracorporate conspiracy rule
— that there is no conspiracytiife conduct is essentially a singlet by agents of a single entity
acting with the scope of their employment — apphéh equal force in the Section 1983 context.
Seelewis 2013 WL 1294606, at *1X.D. ex rel. Duncan v. White Plains Sch. DiS21 F.
Supp. 2d 197, 210 (S.D.N.Y. 2013)lvarez 2012 WL 6212612, at *3{ogut v. Cnty. of
Nassau Nos. 06-CV-6695, 06-CV-6720, 2009 WL 2413648, at *13 (E.D.N.Y. Aug. 3, 2009);
see also Anemone v. Metro. Transp. Auth9 F. Supp. 2d 602, 604 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (collecting
cases) (“In the absence of cotlirmy contrary authority, thisaurt will continue to apply the
intracorporate conspiracy doctrine to Sectil®33 claims because the doctrine’s logic is
sound.”). | agree with this assessmof the doctrine’s applicability.

It follows, however, that an exception tetimtracorporate conspicy doctrine exists
when the alleged conspirators are motivated biyrgamoper personal interest separate and apart
from that of their principal Lewis 2013 WL 1294606, at *1#lvarez 2012 WL 6212612, at
*3; Quinn v. Nassau Cnty. Police Dei3 F. Supp. 2d 347, 360 (E.D.N.Y. 19989¢eGirard v.
94th St. & Fifth Ave. Corp530 F.2d 66, 71-72 (2d Cir. 1976). This “personal stake” exception
applies “where law enforcement allegedly exagsiofficial duties in unconstitutional ways in

order to secure personal benefiAlvarez 2012 WL 6212612, at *3.
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In this case, Plaintiff claims that the imgtlual Defendants had entered into a conspiracy
to deprive Chamberlain of his constitutional rightSe¢AC 1 101-08.) The Complaint,
however, is devoid of factuallabations plausibly supporting thednclusion. Plaintiff states
that “Defendants Carelli, Hart and Fottrell, edudiye or had federal civiight lawsuits filed
against them wherein it was alleged that they el alia, used excessive force, racial or
ethnic slurs, and engaged in atkeprivations of the constitotal rights of African-Americans,
Latinos, and other minority groups members while working under color of lav§ (03), and
that the housing development in which Chandaarlived is “predominantly African-American,”
(id. 1 102). As | mentioned at the pre-motmmnference on September 13, 2012, allegations that
there have been prior civil lawsuits against Defarid mean little if those lawsuits did not end in
findings of wrongdoing. And even accepting the posgmélevance of the allegations in those
other cases, there is no indicetithat those other casesolved conspiratoal conduct, that any
defendant was aware of the prior conduct otchiglefendants, or even what Carelli, Hart, and
Fottrell are specifically allegkto have done. Prior allegyenisconduct does not plausibly
suggest that the instant alleged misconduct iptbduct of a conspiracyPlaintiff has provided
no facts suggesting a prior agresrbetween the individual Defemda or other evidence of a
collective desire to deprive Chamberlain of any constitutional rights. The conclusory language
in the Complaint attempting to cast a racial mation on the officers’ actions is insufficient to
meet theTwomblylgbal standards to state a clafor Section 1983 conspiracysee Boddie v.
Schnieder105 F.3d 857, 862 (2d Cir. 1997) (“A comiplacontaining only conclusory, vague,
or general allegations of conspiracy to deprvperson of constitutional rights cannot withstand
a motion to dismiss.”) (alteration and internal quotation marks omitRediier v. Morgenthau

119 F. Supp. 2d 346, 363 (S.D.N.Y. 2000) (to wahst motion to dismiss, “plaintiff must
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provide some factual basis supporting a meetintg@mminds, such as that defendants entered
into an agreement, express or tacit, to achilbgainlawful end” as well dsome details of time
and place and the alleged effects of the pwasy”) (internal quotation marks omitted).
Likewise, one Defendant’s use of a racial slueslnot plausibly suggest a meeting of the minds
in agreement to effect a deprivation of damsional rights. Plaintiff has failed to plead
sufficient facts to render plaushis allegations of conspiracy.

In any event, | find that Plaintiff's aim would be barred by the intracorporate
conspiracy doctrine. All of the individual Defendaatleged to be particamts in the conspiracy
are officers with the White Plains Police Depzent. (AC § 7.) Plaintiff points to his
allegations regarding the use atral slurs to argue that the a#irs must have been acting based
on “personal animus and racial animus” becdhsdPolice Department’s interest would have
been to render aid rather thi@unt Chamberlain and exacerbate situation. (P’'s Mem. 29-30.)
The Complaint does allege thaal{ least one officer taunted [Oh&erlain] with racial slurs,”

(AC 1 39), and the audio recording of the incidséoes reveal a single use of a racial slur by one
of the officers, (Life Aid Transcript 31). Reprelsdrie as it is, a single af a racial epithet by

a single officer does not, as noted above, playsillicate that the ght individual Defendant
officers (or even a subset of them) entered amy sort of agreement tieprive Chamberlain of
constitutionally protected rightlet alone one based on cotlee racial or personal animds.

Nor has Plaintiff suggested any other sort ofatellal personal motive that might plausibly serve

to meet the personal-stake exception.

18 Indeed, even Plaintiff suggests that the use of the epiifnghave been an ill-advised tactic on the officer’s part
to distract Chamberlain andtgeém away from the door.SgeAC { 40 (“One of the racial slurs came from
Defendant Hart, who stood outside the window . . . . He had been ordered by the sergeants to go to Mr.
Chamberlain’s window to ‘distract’ him.); P's Mem. gfendant Hart, ordered by the sergeants to go to Mr.
Chamberlain, Sr.’s window to ‘distract’ him, stood outside of Mr. Chamberlain, 3stdlfior apartment and called
him a ‘nigger.™).)
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Accordingly, the claim under Section 198[B2ging a conspiracy among the individual
Defendants must be dismissed in its entiféty.

D. Claim |ll: Moné€ll Liability

Municipal liability under Section 1983 requirpsoof that a particular constitutional or
statutory violation was the rdsof an official policy:

[A] local government may not be sued under [Section] 1983 for an injury inflicted

solely by its employees or egts. Instead, it is whexxecution of a government’s

policy or custom . . . inflicts the injuryhat the governmenas an entity is

responsible under [Section] 1983.
Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Serygl36 U.S. 658, 694 (1978). Thec®nd Circuit has established a
two-pronged test that a plaifitmust satisfy before recoveg from a murgipality under
Section 1983.See Moray v. City of Yonke@24 F. Supp. 8, 12 (S.D.N.Y. 1996). First, a
plaintiff must “prove the existence of aumicipal policy or custom” to show that the
municipality took some aah beyond merely employing the misbehaving officafgpolis v.
Vill. of Haverstraw 768 F.2d 40, 44 (2d Cir. 1985). Secone, phaintiff must establish a causal
connection between the policy aneé thlleged civil rights violationld.

To satisfy the first prong on a motion to diss) Plaintiff must dége the existence of

one of the following:

19 plaintiff argues in his opposition papers that application of the intracorporate conspiracyedsctot warranted
because the factual allegations in the Complaint demonstrate the existence of “a conspiracy between the WPHA,
WPDPS and/or individual officers.” (P’s Mem. 30.) Bu tonspiracy claim is assertedly against the individual
officers and alleges that “said Defentiafreferring to Carelli, Hart, and Fottrell] and the other defendant police
officers, entered into a conspiracy,” making no mention of WPHA. (AC 1 104.) It is well establishied that
complaint may not be amended by the briefs in opposition to a motion to disiMaglit v. Ernst & Young LLP

152 F.3d 169, 178 (2d Cir.1998ge Kiryas Joel Alliance v. Vill. of Kiryas Jpblo. 11-CV-3982, 2011 WL

5995075, at *10 n.9 (S.D.N.Y. Nov. 29, 2011) (“[P]laifgitannot use their opposition to the motion to dismiss to
raise new claims or arguments, and thus the Court does not address the new arguments made in the plaintiffs’
memorandum.”aff'd, 495 F. App’x 183 (2d Cir. 2012). Accordingly, | will not allow Plaintiff to amend his
Complaint via his opposition papers to the Motions to Disrto allege a different conspiracy than the one set forth
in the second cause of action. And, in any event, the Amended Complaint is devoid of facts suggesting an
agreement by anyone at the WPHAd&prive Chamberlain of his rights.
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(1) a formal policy which is officily endorsed by the municipality; (2)
actions taken or decisions made dpyvernment officials responsible for
establishing municipal policies whidaused the alleged violation of the
plaintiff's civil rights; (3) a practiceso persistent and widespread that it
constitutes a ‘custom or usageidaimplies the constructive knowledge of
policy-making officials; or (4) a flure by official policy-makers to
properly train or supervise subordinatessuch an extent that it amounts
to deliberate indifference to theghts of those with whom municipal
employees will come into contact.

Moray, 924 F. Supp. at 12 (internal citats and quotation marks omittedgeJones v. Town of

E. Haven 691 F.3d 72, 81 (2d Cir. 2012grt. denied134 S. Ct. 125 (2013).

“A municipality’s culpability for a deprivatin of rights is at itsnost tenuous where a
claim turns on a failure to train.Connick v. Thompsoi31 S. Ct. 1350, 1359 (2011). As stated
above, only where a plaintiff calemonstrate that a municipalgyfailure to train “amounts to
deliberate indifference to the rights of thosthwhom municipal emplyees will come into
contact” will a policy or custom acti@able under Section 19®e establishedMoray, 924 F.
Supp. at 12 (internal quotation marks omittes@e Connickl31 S. Ct. at 1359-6@@ity of
Canton, Ohio v. Harris489 U.S. 378, 388 (1989).

“[D]eliberate indifference’ is a stringemstandard of fault, requiring proof that a
municipal actor disregarded a knownotwious consequence of his actioBd. of Cnty.
Comm’rs v. Brown520 U.S. 397, 410 (1997). To establildtiberate indifference, a plaintiff
must demonstrate that: (1) “a policymaker knoava moral certainty that her employees will
confront a given situation’{2) “the situation either preseritee employee with a difficult choice
of the sort that training . . . will make les$fidult or that there is a history of employees
mishandling the situation”; and (3) “the wrong choice by the city employee will frequently cause

the deprivation of a citizen’s constitutional right&Valker v. City of N.Y974 F.2d 293, 297-98

(2d Cir. 1992) (internal quotation marks omitted)D]Jemonstration ofdeliberate indifference
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requires a showing that the official made a conscious chaidayas not merely negligent.”
Jones 691 F.3d at 81.

“A pattern of similar constitutional violains by untrained employees is ordinarily
necessary to demonstrate defite indifference for purposetfailure to train.” Connick 131
S. Ct. at 1360 (internal quotation marks omittethis is because “[w]ithout notice that a course
of training is deficient in a phcular respect, decisionmakers can hardly be said to have
deliberately chosen a training program that wallise violations of constitutional rightdd. At
the same time, however, the Supreme Cou@tdnnickreaffirmed the viability, in limited
circumstances, of the “single-incident” theafyliability envisioned in the Court’s pri@@anton
decision. Seed. at 1360-61Canton 489 U.S. at 390 n.10. Under that theory, a municipality
can be found to be deliberately indifferenséd on a single constitutional violation where “the
unconstitutional consequences dfifg to train [are] so patentlgbvious that a city should be
liable under [Section] 1983 without proof opee-existing pattern of violations.Connick 131
S. Ct. at 1361. Violation of constitutional rigmtsist be a “highly predictable consequence” of
the failure to train.ld. (internal quotation marks omitted)Thus, deliberate indifference may be
inferred where the need for more or better supervision to protect against constitutional violations
was obvious, but the policymaker failed to make rivegfnl efforts to addess the risk of harm
to plaintiffs.” Cash v. Cnty. of Erigg54 F.3d 324, 334 (2d Cir. 201(Hiterations and internal
citations and quotation marks omittecrt. denied132 S. Ct. 1741 (2012).

While some have argued that fennickdecision so narrowedélsingle-incident theory
as to essentially eliminate it, courts acrosscthéntry have continued &pply that theory post-
Connickwhen its strict requiraents have been megee, e.gCristini v. City of WarrenNo.

07-11141, 2012 WL 5508369, at *12-13 (E.D.cMli Nov. 14, 2012) (denying summary
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judgment on single-incident theory where polidkcers allegedly received no training as to
handling exculpatory evidence&gchwartz v. Lassen Cnt$38 F. Supp. 2d 1045, 1057-59 (E.D.
Cal. 2012) (denying motion to dismiss claim unsiegle-incident theoryhat jail’s personnel
lacked any training oproviding proper medicalare to inmates)Vereb v. Maui Cnty830 F.
Supp. 2d 1026, 1033-37 (D. Haw. 2011) (denying summnualgment on single-incident theory
where jail employees allegedly had no trainingdetecting when inmates need urgent medical
care);see also Dillman v. Tuolumne Cntio. 13-CV-404, 2013 WL 3832736, at *6-8 (E.D.

Cal. July 23, 2013) (dismissing claim under sifigledent theory where plaintiff challenged
adequacy, rather than lack of existence,ahtng regarding proper aof handcuffs and strip
searches)Ault v. Bakey No. 12-CV-228, 2013 WL 1247647, at *8-10 (E.D. Ark. Mar. 27, 2013)
(dismissing claim under single-incialetheory where plaintiff failed to plead sufficient facts
showing consequences of lack of training as to excessive force and medical needs were patently
obvious). The District Court iWerebprovides a thorough and well-reasoned analysis of the
Connickdecision’s effect on the single-incident the@®e830 F. Supp. 2d at 1031-33, and in
the absence of guidance from econd Circuit on this issue, Irag that the theory is still a
viable one in limited circumstances.

1. City of White Plains

Plaintiff asserts two theories bfonell liability under Sectia 1983 against the City.
First, the Complaint alleges thiae City has policies of “hiringral/or retaining officers without
properly screening such employeesto racial animus and praoysgty for violence,” (AC 1 113),
and “failing to investigate, digaline or retrain police officers o had engaged in prior acts of
excessive force and racially motivated condudd,’{ 114). The Complaint contains no factual

content regarding this theory, hever, and Plaintiff's motion paped® not address it. “A court
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may, and generally will, deem a claim abandbwhen a plaintiff fails to respond to a
defendant’s arguments that ttlaim should be dismissedMartinez v. City of N.YNo. 11-
CV-7461, 2012 WL 6062551, at *1 (S.D.N.Y. Dec26,12) (internal quotation marks omitted);
see also Robinson v. Fischélp. 09-CV-8882, 2010 WL 5376204,7dt0 (S.D.N.Y. Dec. 29,
2010) (collecting cases). | fintdat Plaintiff has abandoned Wtonell theory based on the
hiring and failure to train of racisind/or violent officers. Even ifwere to reach the merits of
that theory, the Complaint (as noted abovejudes no factual contentions to support the
conclusory allegation that thet¢ihas a policy of turning a Iold eye to racially motivated or
excessive uses of force by its police officefswus, | find that the Amended Complaint does not
“contain sufficient factual matter . . . to state @l to relief that is plausible on its face” with
respect to this theory of liabilitylgbal, 556 U.S. at 678.

The second theory put forth in the Complasnthat Chamberlais’injuries “were the
result of the City’s adoption ahadequate policies regardibdpPs and barricaded persons.”
(AC 1 110.) Although the Complaint includes a€éio paragraphs casting this allegation as
involving policies or the absenceetieof, customs, failure to supése, and failure to trainsée
id. 11 110-12, 115-23), each essally says the same thing: ahby failing to train its officers
on how to deal with EDPs, the City can bédhesponsible for the events of November 11,
2011. Such an allegation requires Plainttifestablish deliberate indifference to the
constitutional rights of the public on the partpoficymakers for the City of White Plains.

The Amended Complaint does not allege atgra of similar constitutional violations”
as is “ordinarily necessary” to show deliberate indifferer@@ennick 131 S. Ct. at 1360
(internal quotation marks omitted). But | find that the Amended Complaint plausibly alleges

deliberate indifference on thmart of the City under th€antonsingle-incident theory described
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above. The Amended Complaint essentially issbkat WPPD officials knew “to a moral
certainty,”"Walker, 974 F.2d at 297, that WPPD officers wibehcounter EDPs in the course of
their duties, as evidenced byetfact that the WPPD employe®nual includes a section entitled
“Mentally/Emotionally Disturbed Persons.” (AEX. A.) The Amended Complaint also alleges
that the Public Safety Commissiarfer the City of White Plaingvas familiar with the need for a
comprehensive EDP policy from his time at the NYP@@. { 89.) But the WPPD manual
section on EDPs contains no guidance and neatidn that WPPD officarreceive any training
regarding interacting with EDPas the policies contained thereatate solely to procedures
once the police have brought an EDP to a hospi&#e {d. Furthermore, given the extreme
volatility of such individuals and the need fraution when dealing with them to prevent
unnecessary escalation, it is plausitilat interactions with EDRsesent officers with “difficult
choicel[s] of the sort that training . . . will make less difficlvjalker, 974 F. 2d at 297, and that
a “highly predicable consequence” of officers making the wrong ch@mesick 131 S. Ct. at
1361 (internal quotation marks omitted), would dee“teprivation of &itizen’s constitutional
rights,” Walker, 974 F.2d at 298. Discovery will shed light on whether WPPD policymakers
were, in fact, deliberately indifferent to thenstitutional rights of EDPs, but at this stage
Plaintiff has made sufficient allegations for Menell claim to survive the City’s Motion to
Dismiss.

2. White Plains Housing Authority

Plaintiff also alleges that the WPHA is liable untitonell because it adopted an official
policy “to provide to the [WPPD] thmaster keys to the apartmeaotsts tenants, without their
knowledge or consent, and without proceduresiéar such keys were to be used.” (AC | 124;

see alsad. 11 125-27.) Itis certainly plausiliieat the Neighborhood Conditions Unit of the
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WPPD had been given the master key pursuant to “actions taken or decisions made by
government officials responsible for establhmunicipal policies” based on a partnership
between WPHA and WPPD (rather than, foample, by a janitor acting without WPHA
authorization).Moray, 924 F. Supp. at 12. The facts deged in the Amended Complaint,
however, fail to demonstrate the necessaryetdicausal link” between this decision and the
purported violations of Chamberlain’s catgional rights at issue in this cas€ity of Canton
489 U.S. at 385see Vippolis768 F.2d at 44. The imjes to Chamberlain were the result of an
hour-long standoff with police during which Chamlbeértlrefused to allow the officers to enter
his apartment. As discussed above, sufficgigent circumstances isked to justify the
officers’ decision to enter Chamberlain’s apartmemhether they did so via use of a key or by
force is of no relevance. Indeed, Chamberted engaged a chain lothat prevented the key
from successfully effecting entry into the apaetity and the officers were forced to dismantle
the door by force anyway. It hardly amountatoonstitutional depration for WPHA to

provide a means to the police of entering WP&partments without c&ing property damage
when the police decide such entry is necessaoyclaim that the officers’ possession of the
master key somehow proximately caused Charaimeslinjuries is imphusible. Accordingly,
theMonell claim is dismissed as agaivgPHA for failure to state a claiff.

E. Claim |V: Supervisory Liability

As with municipalities, “a supervisory offial cannot be held liable under [Section] 1983

on a theory ofespondeat superidr Ying Jing Gan v. City of N..Y996 F.2d 522, 536 (2d Cir.

20 plaintiff also argues that Chamberlain was deprived of his constitutional right to “quiet enjoyment” of his
leasehold interest in his apartment “without due process of law” when WPHA gave the master kegltoethe p
(SeeAC 1 126.) The parties disagree over whether quieysrgat of a leasehold is a constitutional right at all and
whether Chamberlain had consented to the authorities’ eiatkey in his lease agreement with WPHA. | need not
reach these issues, however, to dismiss the claind losstine absence of a causal connection between WPHA's
decision and Chamberlain’s injuries.
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1993);accordRodriguez v. City of N.Y649 F. Supp. 2d 301, 306 (S.D.N.Y. 2009). Rather, to
prevail on a theory of supervisory liability, Ri&iff must show that th supervisory official:
(1) directly participatedn the violation, (2) failed to remedy the violation
after being informed of it by repodr appeal, (3) created a policy or
custom under which the violation ocoed, (4) was grssly negligent in
supervising subordinates who committed the violation, or (5) was
deliberately indifferent to the rights of others by failing to act on
information that constitutionaights were being violated.
Igbal v. Hasty490 F.3d 143, 152 (2d Cir.2007¢v'd on other grounds sub nowshcroft v.
Igbal, 556 U.S. 662 (2009). The Second Circuit hasifedéd that the “direct participation”
theory of supervisory liability refers to “pmnal participation by ongho has knowledge of the
facts that rendered the condut#gal,” and encompasses persgoeticipation that may be
considered “indirect,” “such awdering or helping others to dlee unlawful acts, rather than
doing them him- or herself.Provost 262 F.3d at 155 (footnote omitted).

Plaintiff alleges that Sergeants Fottrell andrtin both personallyparticipated in the
alleged civil rights violations and were grossly negligent in sugiegytheir suborithates. (P’s
Mem. 47-49). Plaintiff also algges that Lieutenant Spencer perdlgraarticipated by staying in
radio contact during the incident and demaatstl deliberate indifference to Chamberlain’s
rights by directing officers to respotalthe scene with tactical geaid.(at 49-50.) SeeNote 17

above.

1. Fottrell and Martin: Personal Participation

As discussed above, the only allegatitret are actionable under Section 1983 are
Sergeant Fottrell's second discharge of the TasérOfficer Carelli’'s use of lethal force. A
separate claim against Fottrell for supervisoryilighis clearly duplicatie with respect to his
own use of the Taser when theadit claim of excessive force psoceeding against him for that

action. As to Carelli’'s use of lethal forceetrecordings indicate that Fottrell told the other
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officers on the scene to provitlen with “lethal cover” jusbefore entry was made into
Chamberlain’s apartment. (Taser Transcriptl8ipd that this is insfficient factual support to
render Plaintiff's allegations of supervisorghbility plausible on the theory that Fottrell
“order[ed] . . . others to do the unlawful act®fovost 262 F.3d at 155. That Fottrell foresaw
the possibility that lethal force could becomexessary, depending how events unfolded, is not
enough to make him responsible for Carellidapendent decision to shoot once Chamberlain
was down.

Plaintiff claims that Martin used a kéy open Chamberlain’s door, wedged a Halligan
tool through the door to keepdpen, and pushed the door opegain entry once the chain lock
had been cut. (P’'s Mem. 47.) All of thedlegations involve Martin working toward gaining
entry to the apartment, and as discussed alaosefficient exigency existed to justify these
actions. No constitutional violation occurrey virtue of the police d@ry into Chamberlain’s
apartment, and Sergeant Martin cannot be halddion a theory of supervisory liability for
those actionsSee Elek v. Inc. Vill. of Monrp815 F. Supp. 2d 801, 808 (S.D.N.Y. 2011)
(“Absent an underlying constitutional violationgtie is no cognizable claim for supervisor
liability.” ) (internal quotation marks omitted).

But the Taser video from later in the incideoes reveal that afténe first discharge of
Fottrell's Taser failed to incapigate Chamberlain, Martin said tdo it again” even though, as
described above, only one of the Taser barbshtated Chamberlain’ody. (Taser Transcript
9.) As discussed above, the Amended Compfdausibly alleges that the second Taser
discharge was an unnecessary aragssive use of force. Accordily, it is also plausible that
Sergeant Martin is liable for “orden(g] others to do . . . unlawful actsProvost 262 F.3d at

155.
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2. Fottrell and Martin: Gross Negligence

Plaintiff also argues that Fottrell and Marére liable as sup@sors because they
exhibited gross negligenoe overseeing their subordinates a #tene. (P’'s Mem. 47-49.) The
allegations that these two Defendants allowed theradfficers to use racial slurs and curses and
“generally [speak] to [Chamberlain] in an offensive and disrespectful manigkiat 48), do not
rise to the level of a constttanal violation and cannot seras the basis for supervisory
liability. See Elek815 F. Supp. 2d at 808. Moreover, teeordings show that largely the
officers were patient and courteous in their cammations with Chamberlain. At this stage,
however, | find that the allegations regarding feditand Martin’s supeigion of the tactical
entry into Chamberlain’s apartment are sufficienstate a claim forupervisory liability for
gross negligence. Fottrell and Martin were tanking officers on the scene, and they had a
significant amount of time to assemble a safd orderly plan for how the officers would
proceed tactically when entering Chamberlaapartment. They had a wide variety of non-
lethal tools at their disposal, including a shiel8edAC 1 21.) While it is true that making
entry into an apartment occupied by an armed/idual is a tense and dangerous undertaking,
and while at this stage | do not know the detailhefSergeants’ development of the entry plan,
the Complaint alleges that thepervising officers should have bealple to develop a plan to
subdue Chamberlain that would atve escalated the way the ohent did. The Complaint also
points out that the police refused to allow Chamberlain’s niece, Ms. Greenhill, to speak to him to
try and calm him down.Id. 19 36-37.) | find that the Comé has alleged sufficient facts to
at least render plausible at tktaige the claim that Fottrell aivthrtin were grossly negligent in

failing to develop a tactical entry plan witlyeeater likelihood of esuring both Chamberlain’s
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and the officers’ safet§. Accordingly, insofar as it aliees gross negligence, the supervisory
liability claim will not be dismissed against Defendants Fottrell and Martin.

3. Lieutenant Spencer

In contrast, the Complaint fails to stateyaclaim against Lieutenant Spencer. The only
factual allegations in the Comptainvolving Spencer are that meas the senior officer on duty
at WPDPS headquarters buvaecame to the scenéd.(] 22), and that hdirected subordinate
officers (including two intermediate-level supmsiry officers) to rgsond to the scene with
tactical gear,idl. 11 17-19). Plaintiff pre&sts no authority for the not that a police supervisor
commits grossly negligent supervision by dinegtexperienced subordinates to arm themselves
with tactical gear imesponding to a scenaviolving an emotionallyinstable and potentially
volatile individual. Indeed, diating officers to bring tacticaquipment in responding to a call
involving a potentially volatil&EDP seems only prudent. Thepervisory liability claim is
dismissed against Lieutenant Spencer.

F. ClaimsV-VIIl: StateLaw Tort Claims

In addition to the Section 1983 claims, mended Complaint includes state law tort
claims against all Defendants for negligenssaalt and battery, conscious pain and suffering,
and wrongful deat?? (Seeid. 1 138-67.)

1. Notice of Claim

Defendants first contend that the state laaines should be dismissed because Plaintiff

failed to name the individual police officer Datiants in his Notice of Claim, as required by

%L There is some tension between Plaintiff's claim that Fottrell and Martin are liable for failing to come up with a
plan for subduing Chamberlain without the use of deadly force and Plaintiff's claim that Carelli's use of deadly
force was wholly unnecessary. If a fact-finder agreitd thie latter proposition, it might find that Fottrell and
Martin’s planwassufficient.

# The assault and battery claisnnot asserted against WPHA.
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Section 50-e of the New Yoi&eneral Municipal Law. See, e.g.City DS’ Mem. 19-20; City
Ds’ Reply 14.) PlaintiffSNotice of Claim lists the City, WPDPS, and WPHA as the
contemplated defendants, but iedmnot mention any individuafficers by name in the caption
or main text. $eeLoomba Aff. Ex B (Notice of Claim).)

“[ln a federal court, stateotice-of-claim statutes appto state-law claims.'Hardy v.
N.Y.C. Health & Hosp. Corpl164 F.3d 789, 793 (2d Cir.1999) (emphasis omitted). In New
York, filing a Notice of Claim with a municipayi is a condition precedent to commencing a tort
claim against any employeé that municipality. SeeN.Y. Gen. Mun. Law 88 50-e(1)(a), 50-
i(1). By statute, the Notice must contain:

“(1) the name and post-office addse of each claimant, and of his

attorney, if any; (2) the nature tie claim; (3) the time when, the place

where and the manner in which the claim arose; and (4) the items of

damage or injuries claimed to have been sustained so far as then

practicable.”
Id. 8 50-e(2). “New York courts have explainbddt the purpose ofe8tion 50-e’s requirement
of a notice of claim is to permit the defendemtonduct a proper ingggation and assess the
merits of the claim.”Aegis Ins. Servs., Inc. v. Port Auth. of N.Y. & N135 F. App’'x 18, 25 (2d
Cir. 2011) (summary ordergeeBrown v. City of N.Y95 N.Y.2d 389, 393 (2000) (“Reasonably
read, the statute does not requirese things to be stated witkelial nicety or exactness. The
test of the sufficiency of a Na# of Claim is merely whether it includes information sufficient to
enable the city to investigate. Nothing more may be required.”) (internal citations and quotation
marks omitted).

The appellate courts in New York are antly split as to whether a Notice of Claim
must specifically name individual municipal a#irs or employees in order for a plaintiff to

subsequently maintain a lawsuit against thand the Court of Appeals has not squarely

addressed the questio@ompare, e.gCleghorn v. City of N.Y952 N.Y.S.2d 114, 117 (App.
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Div. 1st Dep’t 2012) (“[T]he aatin cannot proceed against thdividual defendants because
they were not named in the notice of clainwi)h Goodwin v. Pretorius962 N.Y.S.2d 539, 545
(App. Div. 4th Dep’t 2013) (“[C]ourts have migglied or misunderstood the law in creating, by
judicial fiat, a requirement famotices of claim that goes beyond those requirements set forth in
the statute. If the legislatihad intended that there be guieement that the individual
employees be named in the notices of claim,uldeasily have created®dua requirement.”).

In the absence of more specific guidance, | adopGthedwinCourt’s well-reasoned
conclusion that there is no requirent that individual defendants be specifically named in the
Notice of Claim. SeeGoodwin 962 N.Y.S.2d at 541-46 (thorough examination of doctrinal
developments regarding said reg@ment). While it may be generally true that a plaintiff “may
not file a notice of claim naming municipal entity and then comne® an action against a roster
of individual municipal employees3chafer v. Hicksville Union Free Sch. Di$do. 06-CV-

2531, 2011 WL 1322903, at *11 (E.D.N.Y. Mar. 31, 2011) (internal quotation marks omitted),
the primary inquiry regarding a Notice of Clains ‘fiot whether [the individuals] were identified
by naman the Notice of Claim, but whetheretyh were described sufficiently for the
[municipality] to be abld¢o investigate the claimYerponi v. City of N.Y930 N.Y.S.2d 177, at

*5 (Sup. Ct. 2011) (unpublished Taldlecision) (emphasis addeds long as the Notice of
Claim “includes information sufficient to enalilee city to investigate” and identify the
municipal employees involve@rown 95 N.Y.2d at 393 (internal quotation marks omitted), a
failure to specifically name indidual defendant employees should not bar suit against them.

In this case, Plaintiff's Notie of Claim contains more than enough information to allow
the City to properly investigate the alleged incidamd identify the police officers involved. It

describes the specific date, time, and addreiseahcident and includea detailed description
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of the alleged facts regarding the intel@etetween Chamberlain and the policBed.oomba
Aff. Ex. B.) It would then have been a sghiforward inquiry for the City to determine which
individual officers had been dispatcheddamberlain’s apartment during the November 5,
2011 incident. Plaintiff’'s Notice was sufficiefto permit the defendant to conduct a proper
investigation and assess the merits of the claiedis Ins. Servs435 F. App’x at 25.
Therefore, the state law claims will not be dissaid as against the individual officers for failure
to identify them by name in the Notice of Claim.

2. Prima FacieElements

In New York, “[a]n ‘assault’ is an interdnal placing of another person in fear of
imminent harmful or offensive contact. A ‘baiteis an intentional wongful physical contact
with another persowithout consent.”United Nat'l Ins. Co. v. Waterfront N.Y. Realty Corp.
994 F.2d 105, 108 (2d Cir. 1993). A plaintiff asegyta battery claim against a police officer
must “prove that [the officer's] conduct was measonable within the meaning of the New York
statute concerning justifation of law enforcement’s use of éerin the course dheir duties.”
Nimely v. City of N.Y414 F.3d 381, 391 (2d Cir. 2005geN.Y. Penal Law 8§ 35.30(1);

Brunelle v. City of N.Y.702 N.Y.S.2d 648, 648-49 (App. Div. 2d Dep’t 2000). Thus, with the
exception of the state actor requirement, teenehts of a Section 1983 excessive force claim
and state law assault and battery claims are substantially idefasdv. Doherty944 F.2d 91,
94-95 (2d Cir. 1991). In effect, “the test for winet a plaintiff can maintain [state law assault
and battery] cause[s] of action against law enforemr@rofficials is the exact same test as the one

used to analyze a Fourth Amendment excessive force cl&mvazanjian v. RiceNo. 03-CV-

2 |n light of this ruling, | need not address: (a) Riffis argument that at the time the original Complaint was

filed, the City had not yet released the names of the individual officers involved even though Plaintiff had filed a
Freedom of Information Law request; or (b) Defendants'aese that Plaintiff was re@ed to amend his Notice of
Claim to name the individual officers once he learned of their identities.
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1923, 2008 WL 5340988, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. Dec. 22, 20@erations and internal quotation
marks omitted).

“In order to establish prima faciecase of negligence under New York law, a claimant
must show that: (1) the defendant owed thenfifaia cognizable duty ofare; (2) the defendant
breached that duty; and (3) thkaintiff suffered damage [(4Hs a proximate result of that
breach.” Stagl v. Delta Airlines, In¢52 F.3d 463, 467 (2d Cir. 1995).

Finally, to state a claim for wrongful deathe decedent’s personal representative must
plead: “(1) the death of a humheing; (2) a wrongful act, neglect or default of the defendant
that caused the decedent's death; (3) the sdreiudistributees who suffered pecuniary loss by
reason of the decedent’s death; and (4) theiappent of a personal representative of the
decedent.”"Pub. Adm’r of Queens Cnty. ex rel. Estat®&neficiaries of Guzman v. City of N.Y.
No. 06-CV-7099, 2009 WL 498976, at *12 (S.D.NF€b. 24, 2009) (internal quotation marks
omitted);seeN.Y. Est. Powers & Trusts Law § 5-4.A plaintiff asserting a survival claim for
conscious pain and suffering must show an dyiug cause of action that the decedent would
have been able to pursue had he surviveatieged wrongdoing. N.Y. Est. Powers & Trusts
Law § 11-3.2(b).

3. Wrongful Death Claim

Plaintiff's wrongful death claim fails as matter of law. The Amended Complaint
contains no allegations that Chamberlain ¢ésalvehind any distributeago have suffered a
pecuniary loss by reason of his death. Pliatgues that the Amended Complaint “mentions”
Chamberlain’s two children, (P’s Mem. 5&)hich by itself is not sufficientSeePub. Adm’r of
Queens Cnty2009 WL 498976, at *12 (“To [prove] a wrongjfdeath case, a plaintiff must

offer proof of pecuniary loss. . . . The fact thare are children whoadistributees of the
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estate is not, by itself, sufficient to establish thate was a pecuniary loss.”) Plaintiff urges this
Court, based on the fact that he has beg@oiated as Chamberlain’s “Administrator” (as
opposed to an “Executor”), to conclude that Chartain died intestate and then take judicial
notice of the fact that under New York law, ChHaarlain’s children are histatutory distributees.
(P's Mem. 55.) Even were | to draw thesedasions, however, Plaifithas still not pleaded

that there is any pecuniary lassthose distributees caused®yamberlain’s death. Plaintiff's
wrongful death claim is dismissed for failurestate a claim on which relief can be granted.

4. Defendant WPHA

The same rationale behind dismissing Plaintiffgnell claim against WPHA — lack of
causation — also justifies dismisgiPlaintiff's state law claims against WPHA. The decision to
provide WPPD with a master key to the Winbrook Houses did not proximately cause
Chamberlain’s injuries, and accordingly, Plaintiéinnot make out a claim for negligence against
WPHA. SeeStag| 52 F.3d at 467. Because WPHA committed no underlying wrong against
Chamberlain, the conscious pain and sufferingvarmhgful death claims also fail as a matter of
law. SeeN.Y. Est. Powers & Trusts Law 88 5-4.1, 32(b). Accordingly, the state law claims
are dismissed in their entirety against Defendant WPHA.

5. Defendants Fottrell, Martin, Carelli, and City of White Plains

Plaintiff's Section 1983 claims are proceedaggpinst Defendants Fottrell, Martin, and
Carelli. The Complaint plausibly alleges thiag¢ir conduct constituted the unreasonable use of
excessive force that caused Chamberlain’s injuiesdeath. For the same reasons as discussed
above, | find that the Complaint plausibNeges that these Defendants committed state-law

assaults and batterfé®r negligence in the alternati?®.Accordingly, Plaintiff's state law

%4 Defendants argue that Plaintiff's assault claim should be dismissed because given the fast-paced nature of the
situation, Chamberlain did not have sufficient time to apprehend imminent physical injlegessary element of a
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claims (other than wrongful death) will not be dissed as against Fottrell, Martin, or Carelli.
Because Defendants have presented me withgurant as to why the state law claims should
be dismissed as against the City of White Plaimse those claims are proceeding against any of
its employees, and becausspondeat superiatoes apply as to the remaining state-law claims,
| will not dismiss the claims against the City.

6. Defendants Hart, Love, Derngk, Markowski, and Spencer

Taking the allegations agest Defendants Hart, Love, Demchuk, Markowski, and
Spencer to be true, none of these Defendantsrpabely caused any of @mberlain’s injuries.
Plaintiff's allegations as to theofficers are summarized abov&egpage 23 above (quoting
P’'s Mem. 21-22).) These Defendants’ actionsidbconstitute assaultg batteries under New
York law. None of these actions causedasomable apprehension of bodily injury that is
sufficiently “imminent” to constitute an asdg and none of them proximately caused any
contact with Chamberlain’s persatefeating Plaintiff's battery alms. Nor do they amount to a
breach of duty proximately causing Chamberlainjgries. The tort claims therefore fail as a
matter of law, also resulting ihe failure of the consciousipaand suffering and wrongful death
claims. Accordingly, the state tort claims are dss®ed in their entirety against Defendants Hart,

Love, Demchuk, Markowski, and Spencer.

claim for assault. See, e.g.City Ds’ Mem. 22.) | disagree. It isedr from the recordings that Chamberlain was
well aware that the officers outside his door were attemgyit enter his apartment and had their guns dra®ee, (
e.g, Life Aid Transcript 42 (“Oh, they got their shotgunsit);at 43 (“| know I'm gonna get hurt.”); Taser
Transcript 5 (“They have shotguns, stunguns, they have their Glocks out.”).) When they ultimately erth the
Taser, beanbag shotgun, and handguns, he plausibly apprehended imminent physical injury.

% Defendants argue that Plaintiff's iggnce claims are inconsistent wittetimtentional nature of the conduct the
Amended Complaint alleges. (City Ds’ Mem. 22-23.) That may be so, but it is axiomatic that “[a] party may state
as many separate claims or defenses as it has, regardless of consistency.” Fed. R. Ciy. P. 8(d)(3
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V. CONCLUSION

| have considered Defendants’ remaininguaments and find them to be unpersuasive.
For the reasons stated above, the City Defetsd&otion to Dismiss is GRANTED IN PART
and DENIED IN PART, WPHA'’s Motion to Disiss is GRANTED, Carelli’'s Motion to Dismiss
is GRANTED IN PART and DENIED IN PARTand Hart's Motion to Dismiss is GRANTED.
The Clerk of Court is directed to termate the pending Motions, (Docs. 45, 58, 62, 65), and
terminate the following parties as Defendantghite Plains Housing Athority, Steven Hart,
Maurice Love, Steven Demchuk, k& Markowski, and James Spencer. The remaining claims
in this case are as follows:

e City of White Plains Claim Il (Monell liability); Claims V, VII, VIII (state law

claims other than wrongful death).

e Sergeant Stephen FottrelClaim | (excessive force for second Taser discharge);
Claim IV (grossly negligent supervision regaguse of lethal force); Claims V, VI,
VIII (state law claims other than wrongful death).

e Sergeant Keith MartinClaim IV (directing Fottrelto discharge Taser the second

time; grossly negligent supervision regardusg of lethal force); Claims V, VII, VIII
(state law claims other than wrongful death).

e Officer Anthony Carelli Claim | (excessive force for use of lethal force); Claims V,

VII, VIl (state law claims other than wrongful death).
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The remaining parties are diredtto appear before me ond2enber 13, 2013 at 4:00 p.m. for a

status conference.
SO ORDERED.

Dated: December 10, 2013
White Plains, New York

(otthy, et

CATHY ¥EIBEL, U.S.D.J.
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